UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V. Case No. 19-cv-1743

SUMMIT CONTRACTING, INC.,
CHAD M. SCHAMPERS, and
NATHANIEL R. SMITH,

Defendants.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA’S VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR PRELIMINARY
AND PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the United States of America, by and through its undersigned attorneys, hereby
alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Starting as early as 2018 and continuing to the present, defendants Chad Schampers
(“Schampers”) and Nathaniel Smith (“Smith”) have conducted a fraudulent scheme through their
company, Summit Contracting, Inc. (“Summit”) (Schampers, Smith, and Summit collectively,
“defendants”) that has harmed and continues to harm scores of victims. Defendants induce
Summit customers to finance their construction projects—often by misrepresenting the terms of
the financing offered. Once approved for financing, Summit fully withdraws the funds for the
project from the financing company before it completes its work. These withdrawals are typically

made without the customer’s knowledge, contrary to the payment authorization provided by the
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customer, or both. Having already received the entire payment, Summit then regularly fails to
provide the work and materials promised.

2. When dissatisfied customers complain and post negative reviews of Summit or
attempt to obtain a refund, defendants either ignore the customer or pressure the customer into
removing their negative review by threatening to not complete the work or demanding that the
customer accept a partial refund that is a fraction of the amount of the customer’s loan. Some
Summit customers are left with substantial loan payments for work that is not what Summit
promised, or worse, never completed at all.

3. The United States seeks to prevent continuing and substantial injury to consumers
victimized by this fraudulent scheme by bringing this action for preliminary and permanent
injunctions and other equitable relief under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 to enjoin the ongoing commission
of wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 and banking law violations in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 3322(d) and 18 U.S.C. § 1344,

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1345 and 28 U.S.C. 88 1331 and 1345.
5. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) & (2).
PARTIES
6. Plaintiff is the United States of America.
7. Defendant Summit Contracting, Inc. is, and was at all times relevant to this action,
a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin. Summit was

registered with the Wisconsin Department of Financial institutions on or about September 10,
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2018. Summit’s registered agent for service of process is United States Corporation Agents, Inc.,
2761 Allied Street, 1% Floor, Green Bay, Wisconsin, 54304,

8. Defendant Chad Schampers resides in De Pere, Wisconsin, located in the Eastern
District of Wisconsin. Schampers is one of the owners of Summit Contracting, Inc.

9. Defendant Nathaniel Smith resides in Oconto, Wisconsin, located in the Eastern
District of Wisconsin. Smith is one of the owners of Summit Contracting, Inc.

10. Defendants Schampers and Smith direct and control Summit Contracting, Inc., use
Summit to perpetrate the fraudulent scheme alleged herein, and directed the fraudulent acts alleged
herein. Both Schampers and Smith operate Summit from an office in De Pere, Wisconsin, located
in the Eastern District of Wisconsin.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

11.  Summit holds itself out as an established construction company that specializes in
residential and commercial roofing, siding, window replacements, HVAC, and doors. Summit
aggressively markets its services using a variety of methods, including over the internet, radio, and
by contacting leads obtained from a variety of sources using the telephone. Summit’s
advertisements often include multiple false and misleading representations to entice potential
customers, including falsely promising prospective customers gift cards, entries into a contest for
a$10,000 “home makeover giveaway,” and guided fishing trips, all of which Summit has no intent
of awarding at the time the promises are made.

12. Summit employs multiple sales representatives who contact potential leads and
schedule sales appointments in the prospective customer’s home. Summit’s sales team is
comprised in large part of individuals with no construction background, who receive no training

regarding the products and services that they are required to sell.
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13. At the initial (and only) sales meeting, the Summit representative makes a number
of false statements about Summit and its services to induce the prospective customer to retain
Summit. For example, a PowerPoint presentation that Summit representatives present to
customers falsely represents that Summit is an established, reputable company that has been in
business since 2007, when in fact Summit has only been in business since September 2018 and
has been the subject of multiple complaints to the Better Business Bureau, state regulatory
agencies, and law enforcement.

14. Pursuant to the directions of Schampers and Smith, Summit representatives use
high pressure, deceptive sales techniques. Schampers and Smith have instructed Summit sales
representatives to never to leave contact information or estimates with a customer after a sales
meeting, and that if they ever communicate with a customer after the initial sales meeting they will
be fired. Schampers and Smith have regularly used a variety of aliases when interacting with
customers, in order to conceal their identities and to avoid accountability to dissatisfied customers.

15.  Schampers and Smith instructed Summit representatives that they should pressure
prospective customers to finance their projects with Summit, using a financial institution identified
by Summit. One of these financial institutions is EnerBank USA (“EnerBank”). In addition,
Summit has used Green Sky, Inc. (“GreenSky”), which offers loans funded by a variety of
participating financial institution lenders. The lenders who ultimately provide funds to Summit’s
customers are each a “financial institution” within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 20.

16. Schampers and Smith instructed sales representatives that they do not want a
customer to pay for a Summit project without financing because if they did so Summit would have

trouble collecting money upon completion of the work. Schampers and Smith also instructed sales
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representatives that they would be paid their commissions more quickly for sales that the customer
chose to finance.

17.  Pursuant to Schampers’s and Smith’s direction, at their initial sales meeting
Summit sales representatives attempt to induce the customer to apply for financing by
misrepresenting the terms of the financing being offered. For example, at times Summit
representatives informed prospective customers that they were applying to 0% financing and that
no payments would be due for a period of time, when in fact the financing often included no-
interest free term, required immediate, substantial payments, and was subject to an interest rate of
up to 25%.

18. If a prospective customer agreed to apply for financing, the sales representative
instructed the prospective customer to electronically apply for financing during the initial sales
meeting, using an application on the sales representative’s phone or tablet. If the customer was
approved, the sales representative would notify Summit. For EnerBank-financed transactions,
Summit would then immediately process the application and e-mail the sales representative
paperwork to be returned upon completion of the project. The Summit sales representatives were
instructed that they needed the customer to sign that paperwork at the initial sales meeting.

19. Pursuant to the terms of Summit’s agreements with various financial institutions,
Summit was not permitted to withdraw the entire amount of a customer’s loan until its work on a
project was complete. To induce the customer to sign final loan paperwork that Summit needed
to access the entire amount of the loan, Summit sales representatives were instructed to mislead
the customer regarding the nature of the documents that they were signing, and to inform the
customer that they were simply agreeing to the financing terms or signing application paperwork.

Schampers and Smith also misled sales representatives concerning the nature of the documents
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that sales representatives were requiring the customer to sign, and instructed them that the
documentation was needed to “verify funds” as part of the loan application process. In some
instances, depending on the financial institution involved, this documentation actually included
confirmation that Summit’s work on a project was completed.

20. One former employee of Summit described defendants’ usual practice as follows:

We [Summit sales representatives] were instructed not to leave the [customer’s]
house without the final signature from the customer saying the work was complete.
The customer would think they were signing for the financing, but instead they were
signing to the [financing company] that the work was complete. No person in their
right mind would sign saying the work was complete when the sales person was
still in their living room. Chad and Nate made it very clear that the sales team had
to sell in ‘one sit’ [i.e., a single meeting], never speak to a customer a second time,
and get that final signature [ . . . ] When I would leave the customer’s house I would
never talk to them again. The customer would get a copy of the Summit paperwork
and nothing from the finance company.

21.  Another former Summit sales representative confirmed that:

Chad [...] directed us to have the customer sign the work complete form every time
prior to leaving the job. So literally the customer would agree to the project, get
approved for . . . financing, and then sign the work complete email/form all that
first day. A rep from [EnerBank] met with us at Summit and explained that we
could not have customers signing the work complete agreement right away or all
until the work was done. Following this meeting Chad specifically told us even
after the [EnerBank] rep told us not to, that we needed to have the work complete
paperwork signed. This was all done electronically. So in summary, the customer
agreed to the work, the sales person notifies [Summit] and literally waits for the
second email with the work complete paperwork to come through and be signed by
the customer. We needed to have that signed before leaving the customer’s house.
The customer was told they were signing to the terms, and not knowing that they
were signing off on the work being done. Sales people were told they would not be
paid without this.

22. Defendants understood that they were not authorized to draw the entire amount of
a customer’s loan unless and until the work was completed. Nevertheless, within a short time after
the initial sales meeting between the Summit representative and customer, Summit would submit

paperwork to the financing institution falsely representing that work was completed, or, depending
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on the financial institution’s requirements, simply request disbursement of the entire loan. As a
result, the financial institution would release the entire amount of the customer’s loan to Summit—
in some instances before Summit even began the work, and in many instances well before the work
was completed. Summit customers have also reported finding out that their Summit project was
financed when they unexpectedly received a bill from a finance company, showing a balance and
payments due.

23. Further, Summit customers were often disappointed with the inconsistency
between what the Summit representative promised, and the actual work that Summit performed.
For example, despite Summit sales representatives’ representations to customers that Summit did
not use subcontractors, the overwhelming majority (if not all) of Summit’s work was completed
by subcontractors. Summit would often provide products of much lower quality than the products
promised, or fail to complete projects at all. When customers complained or posted negative
reviews online, Summit refused to complete the work or provide even a partial refund until the
negative review was withdrawn.

24.  Based on Summit’s high pressure, aggressive, and deceptive sales techniques, a
significant proportion of Summit’s customers elect to finance the projects. Defendants’ fraudulent
schemes are ongoing, and absent injunctive relief by this Court, defendants will continue to injure
consumers.

25. Upon information and belief, the United States alleges that defendants have
knowledge that their conduct facilitates a wire fraud scheme and banking law violations.

REPRESENTATIVE EXAMPLES OF DEFENDANTS’ FRAUDULENT SCHEME

26. C.L. (“Customer #1”’) met with a Summit representative on April 19, 2019, and

retained Summit to perform work on her roof and windows. Summit promised Customer #1 it
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would perform the work between June 7 and June 21, 2019. Customer #1 agreed to finance the
project, but explained to the Summit representative that she had bad credit. Customer #1 and the
Summit representative then called Customer #1’s mother, who resides in an assisted living facility,
to see if she would co-sign the loan. At no time did Customer #1 or her mother agree to take out a
loan in Customer #1’s mother’s name only. However, about two weeks later, Customer #1’s
mother received paperwork in the mail from GreenSky financing, and Customer #1 realized that a
loan in the amount of $62,968 was taken out in her mother’s name only. Summit withdrew
$12,593.60 of this amount on April 23, 2019, then the remaining $50,374.00 two days later, on
April 25, 2019. Summit did not begin work on the project until mid-May, 2019, and completed
its work shortly thereafter. Customer #1 was not satisfied with the quality of some of the work
performed, and Customer #1°s daughter posted negative reviews of Summit’s work online. When
this occurred, a Summit representative contacted Customer #1 and threatened her that Summit
would not complete the work until the bad reviews were removed.

217. K.L. (“Customer #2”’) contacted Summit to obtain a new roof and gutters on his
home. On November 1, 2018, he met with a Summit representative, who quoted $22,171 for the
work, and provided Customer #2 with a completion date of December 3, 2018. The Summit
representative encouraged Customer #2 to finance the project, and led Customer #2 to believe that
the project was being financed by Summit, rather than an outside financing company. The Summit
representative obtained all of Customer’s #2 personal information to determine if he qualified for
the loan. According to Customer #2, it was not until he received a contract from Green Sky
financing that he realized the loan was provided by a third party with what he described as an
“extremely high interest rate” for the loan. On November 5, 2018, Summit withdrew $11,000

from the Green Sky loan account. Summit began work on the project on November 19, 2018, and
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took a second withdrawal from Customer #2’s Green Sky account in the amount of $11,000 the
very next day, November 20, 2019. Customer #2 was contacted by Green Sky asking if work was
completed on his home. Customer #2 informed Green Sky that the work was not compete, and he
did not understand why the second half of the loan was withdrawn without the gutters and gutter
guards being installed and a final walk-through being completed. Customer #2 was not satisfied
with Summit’s work, and it was not until Customer #2 submitted a complaint to the Better Business
Bureau that Summit offered to pay for half the cost of repairs and a partial refund check in the
amount of $550.00.

28. O.D. and J.D. (“Customer #3”’) met with a Summit representative on March 12,
2019. During a five-hour sales pitch, the Summit representative wrote multiple estimates and
persuaded Customer #3 to agree to a deal. Ultimately, Customer #3 agreed to a quote of $23,052
for installation of thirteen 7400 series, double-hung and glider windows. Customer #3 made a
$4,000 down payment and agreed to finance the balance. The Summit representative informed
Customer #3 that half of the balance would be withdrawn for supplies, and the remainder would
be withdrawn upon completion of the project. Summit began work on April 12, 2019. Customer
#3 contacted Green Sky on April 24, 2019, and Green Sky informed Customer #3 that Summit had
withdrawn all of the funds for the project because GreenSky had received information that the
project was completed. The last time that Summit came to Customer #3’s residence was August
7, 2019. Customer #3 was not satisfied with the work that Summit completed. Summit never
conducted a final walk through and Customer # 3 states that they never signed paperwork
indicating that the work was completed.

29. MK. (“Customer #4”) met with a Summit representative on or about April 11,

2019. Over the course of a five-hour, high pressure sales pitch, the Summit representative
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persuaded Customer #4 to hire Summit to perform some work on her property for $18,000. The
Summit representative informed Customer #4 that five year interest free financing was available.
Customer #4 agreed to apply for financing through GreenSky using the sales representative’s
electronic tablet. The Summit representative led Customer #4 to believe that she was just applying
to see if she was eligible for zero percent financing, but she later received paperwork in the mail
from GreenSky showing three withdrawals all before April 30, 2019, when the project was
scheduled to begin. Customer #4 states that she did not agree to the financing before it was taken
out in her name and fully withdrawn. GreenSky refused to freeze the payments and informed
Customer #4 GreenSky had received paperwork from Summit assuring the work was done and
completed to her satisfaction. To Customer #4’s knowledge, she never signed anything confirming
that the work was complete. When Customer #4 filed a complaint with GreenSky, Summit offered
her a partial refund of $4,000, which Customer #4 refused to accept because it was far less than
her total losses.

30.  M.L (“Customer #5”) learned about Summit at a home and garden show, and
contacted Summit to obtain an estimate for a roof replacement. In approximately October or
November of 2018, Customer #5 met with a Summit representative, who provided an estimate for
replacing her home and garage roof. The Summit representative offered financing for the project
through Green Sky, which Customer #5 applied for. She was approved for $7,500 in financing,
and paid $325 for the project in cash. The work on Customer #5’s home did not begin until April
8, 2019, but Customer #5 received her first bill from Green Sky in late February, 2019. The full
amount of the funds for the project were withdrawn on February 10, 2019. Customer #5 was not
satisfied with the work that Summit performed, and posted a negative review online. Summit

offered to pay her $500 to remove the negative review. Summit never completed a final walk-
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through with Customer #5 to discuss the work that had been completed and ensure that Customer
#5 was satisfied.

31. C.B. (“Customer #6”) contacted Summit for an estimate for new windows on
February 9, 2019, after hearing one of Summit’s radio advertisements. Customer #6 met with a
Summit representative that same day. The Summit representative provided Customer #6
information for GreenSky financing, and Customer #6 was approved for $33,000. In April 2019,
GreenSky contacted Customer #6 to ask about the completion of Summit’s contracted work.
Customer #6 learned at that time that Summit had withdrawn the full amount of the loan before
any work had been commenced. At no time had Customer #6 told Summit or GreenSky that the
work was complete. As of late June, 2019, Summit had not completed the promised work.

32.  As demonstrated by these representative examples, victims suffer financial losses
from the wire fraud scheme and banking law violations facilitated by defendants.

33.  Absent injunctive relief by this Court, defendants’ conduct will continue to cause
injury to victims.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF: PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTIONS
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1345

34.  The United States realleges and incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs
of this Complaint as through fully set forth herein.

35. By reason of the conduct described herein, defendants violated, are violating, and
are about to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1343 by executing a scheme or artifice to defraud for obtaining
money by means of false or fraudulent representations with the intent to defraud and, in so doing,
using wire communications. Defendants have also violated, are violating, and are about violate

18 U.S.C. § 1344 by executing and attempting to execute a scheme or artifice to obtain moneys
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and funds under the custody or control of a financial institution by means of false or fraudulent
pretenses, representations, or promises.

36. Upon a showing that defendants are committing or are about to commit wire fraud
or a banking law violation, the United States is entitled, under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, to preliminary
and permanent injunctions restraining all future fraudulent conduct and any other action that this
Court deems just in order to prevent a continuing and substantial injury to the victims of fraud.

37.  Asaresult of the foregoing, the Court should enjoin defendants’ conduct pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1345.

WHEREFORE, the United States of America requests that the Court issue preliminary and
permanent injunctions in this matter enjoining the defendants as follows:

(1) Prohibiting defendants Summit Contracting, Inc., Chad M. Schampers, and Nathaniel
R. Smith, defendants’ agents, officers, and employees, and all persons in active concert or
participation with defendants, from:

(a) Making any false statement to any financial institution with respect to any
financing transaction;

(b) Misrepresenting to prospective or actual Summit customers the terms of
financing offered for Summit projects;

(c) Requiring Summit customers to sign paperwork concerning the completion of
work before Summit has confirmed completion of the work with the customers;

(d) Threatening or intimidating any customer or former customer of Summit who
posts a negative review online or in any other medium or provides information in

connection with any law enforcement investigation of defendants’ misconduct; and/or
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(e) Destroying, deleting, removing, or transferring any and all business, financial,
accounting, and other records concerning defendants’ operations; and
(2) Enjoining all future fraudulent conduct and any other action that the Court deems just
in order to prevent a continuing and substantial injury to the persons and entities affected by the
defendants’ wire fraud and banking law violations, including without limitation, current, past, and
future customers of Summit who obtained financing.

The United States further requests that the Court order such other and further relief as the

Court shall deem just and proper.
Dated this 27th day of November, 2019.

MATTHEW D. KRUEGER
United States Attorney
By:  /s/Emily A. Constantine

EMILY A. CONSTANTINE

Assistant U.S. Attorney

Wisconsin Bar N0.1087257

Office of the United States Attorney
Eastern District of Wisconsin

517 East Wisconsin Avenue, Room 530
Milwaukee, W1 53202

Telephone: (414) 297-1700

Fax: (414) 297-4394
emily.constantine@usdoj.gov
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VERIFICATION

I, Emily A. Constantine, hereby verify and declare under penalty of perjury that | am one
of the attorneys for the United States of America in the above-captioned action, that | have read
the foregoing Verified Complaint, and that the facts stated therein are true and correct to the best
of my knowledge, information, and belief. The sources of my knowledge and grounds of my belief
are official files and records of the United States, public records, and information supplied to me

by law enforcement officers who investigated this case.

| declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.
Executed on this 27" day of November, 2019, in Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

/s/Emily A. Constantine
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